1963

Zion's First National Bank v. Spencer C. Taylor et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action to rescind and vacate the order of Spencer C. Taylor, Bank Commissioner, authorizing First Security State Bank to establish a branch bank in the Cottonwood Mall, Salt Lake County, Utah, on the ground the Bank Commissioner acted arbitrarily and capriciously.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the Court. It held the defendant and appellant Bank Commissioner acted arbitrarily and capriciously and rescinded his order.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek reversal of the judgment of the Trial Court and judgment in their favor, as a matter of law, or that failing a new trial.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

It will assist the Court to recognize the narrow issue involved on this appeal if a brief narrative of what the case is about is given at this point.

On February 1, 1960 the plaintiff established its branch in the Cottonwood Mall. Since it is a national bank it obtained authority from the Comptroller of the Currency. It was not necessary to get authority from the State Bank Commissioner. On November 16, 1961, the First Security State Bank filed its application with the State Bank Commissioner for authority to establish a branch in the Cottonwood Mall. On October 16, 1962 the authority was granted. The trial court held the action of the Bank Commissioner was arbitrary and capricious and rescinded the order.

The law relating to branch banking in Salt Lake County provided (Section 7-3-6 UCA 1953 as amended):

“* * * No bank shall be permitted to establish any branch or office until it shall first have

been shown to the satisfaction of the Bank Commissioner and the Governor that the public convenience and advantage will be subserved and promoted by the establishment of such branch and office * *”

“No branch shall be established at a location outside of the corporate limits of a city or town in such close proximity to an established bank or branch as to unreasonably interfere with the business thereof.”

It will be the contention of the appellant, that the decision of the Bank Commissioner and the Governor that the establishment of the First Security State Bank Branch in the Cottonwood Mall would serve the public convenience, and would not unreasonably interfere with the business of Zions First National Branch, is not arbitrary or capricious and finds substantial support in the record. The question is one of fact for the Commissioner and his decision, supported by the evidence, was binding on the trial court. The Honorable Trial Court substituted his judgment for the judgment of the Commissioner on the question before the Bank Commissioner as though the Trial Judge was the trier of the facts. He refused to recognize that he was bound to affirm the decision of the bank commissioner if it found substantial support in the record.

The Utah statute relating to Branch banks did not require a hearing before the Commissioner, but both sides were given ample opportunity to present their views and evidence to the Bank Commissioner and the Governor. Twelve days after the First Security filed its application and on November 28, 1961, Zions Bank wrote

a letter of protest to the Bank Commissioner which stated in part:

"It was the estimate of the bank that it would be at least three years after the shopping center opened before its branch there would become self-sustaining. Such estimates were, of course, based upon the reasonable assumption that such branch would be protected from undue additional banking activities.

* * * * *

"It has taken a lease on a space 40 x 120 feet in which Salt Lake area's finest suburban bank is being completed. It is, of course, more than adequate for present needs but is designed to be in keeping with the quality of the center and the longer term requirements of the area.

* * * * *

"It is respectfully submitted that the bank which is first granted the franchise in an area should be given a reasonable time to develop it. To do otherwise is not in the interest of the public or of the banking industry." (R 25)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The application of First Security State Bank is contained in the record at pages 11 to 24, including three maps attached. The protest of Zions First National Bank is found at pages 25 to 27 of the record. The application and protest were referred to C. B. Quinn, of the State Banking Department, for branch investigation report, which is found at pages 28 to 38 of the record. The exact date of filing the investigation report in the

office of the Bank Commissioner is not shown, but it refers to interviews held on February 15, 1962, and the Commissioner in his deposition said the last date mentioned in the report was February 22, 1962, and he thought it was filed in the spring of 1962, just after some date he mentioned in the report (Deposition p. 10).

After receiving the report from Mr. Quinn, the Commissioner continued his investigation by visiting the Cottonwood Mall at intervals and observing its growth and development and having further informal conferences with representatives of Zions Bank and with Scharf Sumner and Sid Horman, manager of Western Savings & Loan, and owner of Cottonwood Mall, respectively. (Deposition 20-22). No additional written material was put in the record in any form, and there is no indication that either plaintiff or defendant, First Security State Bank, offered any further written testimony or information, for the record.

No formal findings of facts were required by the law to be made by the Commissioner and he made none except the certificate itself, which provided:

"STATE OF UTAH—OFFICE OF THE
BANK COMMISSIONER CERTIFICATE

I, Spencer C. Taylor, Bank Commissioner of
the State of Utah,

DO HEREBY CERTIFY

That *FIRST SECURITY STATE BANK, Salt
Lake City, Utah* has complied with all the provisions of Section 7-3-6, Utah Code Annotated 1953,

relative to the establishment of a branch bank and is hereby authorized to conduct a branch bank in the Cottonwood Mall, Salt Lake County, Utah, with full power to conduct a general banking business at said branch.

Dated at Salt Lake City, Utah, this 16th day of October, 1962.

Spencer C. Taylor, Bank Commissioner

Approved this 16th day of October, 1962.

GEORGE D. CLYDE, Governor of the State of Utah"

Defendants' Exhibit D6 are two colored photographs of the Cottonwood Mall taken in October, 1962, which show the enclosed Mall and shops on both sides with entrance from the Mall.

Plaintiff's Exhibit P5 are four pictures of Zions Bank in the Mall taken on June 4, 1962, when the Branch was opened in that location. From February 1, 1960, when it was first established, (R 30) to June 4, 1962, (Dep 32) the Branch of plaintiff's bank operated in the Mall in temporary quarters.

Examiner Quinn's report concluded:

"The area involved appears to be adequately serviced by banking facilities at the present time. However, the potential growth of the area and particularly the potential business growth of the Cottonwood Mall as presently established, together with its increased facilities planned for the future, could change this picture so that an additional banking facility in this area would be justified."
(R 38)

The statement of condition of First Security State Bank as of October 31, 1961, is found at page 24 of the record. It shows total resources of \$13,020,205.56. The bank service area had a population of approximately 43,000. The regional trading area has a population of 175,000. The bank service area is between 3900 and 7800 South and east of 900 East (R 19). It is estimated, based on anticipated rate of growth, the population of this bank service area should exceed 60,000 by the year 1970. (R 19)

The application of First Security State Bank stated there were three branch banks within the primary bank service area—Zions First National in the shopping center (opened in March, 1960 R 30), Tracy-Collins Bank and Trust Company in Holladay (opened in December, 1956), and Valley State at 6065 South Highland Drive (opened in January, 1960). (R 22 and 30) First Security State Bank has a bank on the fringe of this area and Valley State had recently received approval for a branch on the fringe at 900 East 5600 South. Within the area itself, counting the application of First Security, there would be one branch for 10,750 people (R 19).

The application stated that in regional shopping centers in other states, particularly in California, there are two or three branch banks directly within the center (R 20).

We quote from pages 20 and 21 of the record:

“The Cottonwood Shopping Center is the first unified and completely regional shopping located outside city limits in Utah. This means the first shopping center of major proportions both

as to types of facilities and size.

"This regional shopping center is distinguished from all other shopping centers which serve more limited areas. The investment including the construction and facilities totals approximately \$12 million. The total area covers some 35 acres. Additions to this area are anticipated—an addition of some 30 acres.

"Major Establishments

"The major establishment in the Cottonwood regional center is the branch of Z.C.M.I., the largest department store in the Intermountain Region. Z.C.M.I. will occupy 128,000 sq. ft. of space of the 500,000 total in the buildings and connected malls in the first unit. There are some 50 additional business establishments to be located within this complex of buildings and mall.

"Included are:

"1. A major restaurant, the Hot Shoppes, known primarily on the coast (East) and centered at Washington, D.C., but with one branch in downtown Salt Lake. This, then, is the second Utah branch of this national restaurant.

"2. Albertson's grocery-drug store.

"3. F. W. Woolworth

"4. Arthur Frank (Utah's largest top-quality men's clothing store.) This is the only branch. Headquarters are in downtown Salt Lake City.

"5. Zinik's Sporting Goods, Utah's largest sporting goods store. This is the only branch. Headquarters are on Main Street, downtown Salt Lake City.

"6. Pearson Hardware, Salt Lake's largest hardware store. This is the company's only branch. Headquarters store is in Sugar House.

"7. Deseret Book Company, Utah's largest bookstore. This is the only branch. Headquarters are in downtown Salt Lake City.

"8. Western Savings and Loan. This is Western's only branch.

"9. International Shoe

"10. Edison Shoe

"11. Gallen-Kamp Shoes

"12. U.S. Shoes

"13. Ferri Auto Parts

"14. Zale Jewelers. Branch is from downtown headquarters.

"15. Singer Sewing Machine Center.

"Other establishments include a branch of Zions First National Bank, a Junior Department store, a ladies ready-to-wear, a fur store, a drug store. In addition, such service establishments as barber and beauty shops, cleaning and dyeing shops are also to be located in this regional shopping center. The first units are now being opened. Blacktop parking space is provided at this center for approximately 3,000 cars."

The Cottonwood regional shopping center is designed to serve a population currently listed at about 175,000 people, including the most rapidly growing area in the unincorporated portion of Salt Lake County.
(R 22) The first branch banks established outside the

incorporated cities in the southeast section was in 1953 by First Security Bank of Utah N.A. and in 1954 by Valley State, both on Highland Drive between the south city limits of Salt Lake City and 3300 South. Since that time Valley State has established branches at 2700 East 3300 South (1957) and at 900 East 5600 South. In 1960 Tracy Collins opened a branch at 4500 South and 900 East. (R 23)

The application concluded:

"First Security State Bank can provide additional banking facilities in the Cottonwood area in keeping with growth and development, and better service to present customers. It is estimated that within one year after opening, deposits would total in excess of \$1 million, within three years, \$3 million. Part of these deposits would be from new customers. Part would be transferred from customers now maintaining accounts in downtown, and from other banks, especially from First Security Bank of Utah, N.A.

A location within the center is available within the next month. Bank operations could begin with opening of major stores in the area. The major need for credit is mortgage credit, but significant amounts of other credit would also be handled.

Operations would not be as expensive as would normally apply to branches because of centralized bookkeeping at 8th South in Salt Lake City for all First Security Banks in the area." (R 23)

Examiner Quinn said in his report that the applicant

was operating three branch banks and had 2 applications pending including this application. The policies of the applicant regarding branches have been sound. All existing branches are reported to be operating on a profitable basis. The applicant has in excess of the capital requirement for present and proposed branches. The strength of applicant's management is adequate to justify the proposed branch expansion. It does not have asset problems which would be a factor against expansion. (R 29)

Mr. Quinn reported that applicant had an office at 3983 Wasatch Blvd. established 11/16/60 and it had \$475,000 deposits and \$742,000 in loans. (R 39)

This office is 4.6 miles from the proposed branch in the Cottonwood Mall.

Section II of the Quinn report is a field investigation and indicates a list of persons who were interviewed in person or by telephone at various dates. The list and their positions in the banking business are:

O. K. Carlson	Senior Vice President Walker Bank & Trust Company
S. M. Horman	Partner Horman Construction Company
Arthur N. McKell	Manager Zions First National Bank Cottonwood Branch
W. E. Myrick	President Valley State Bank
Kenneth E. Coombs	Manager Valley State Bank Cottonwood Branch

F. A. Fornelius	Manager Valley State Bank Cottonwood Branch
Jay D. Knudsen	Manager First Security State Bank Olympus Branch
Richard M. Mercer	Manager Western Savings and Loan Co. Cottonwood Office
Newell B. Dayton	President Tracy-Collins Trust Company
Thomas L. Davis	Assistant Cashier and Manager Tracy-Collins Bank & Trust Com- pany County Office
Ames K. Bagley	Vice President Zions First National Bank
W. La Mar Webb	President Zions First National Bank (R 31)

The report does not state what the conversation was between Mr. Quinn and the gentlemen interviewed. It is fair to infer that they were asked if they thought there was need for another branch bank in the Cottonwood Mall and since they were officers of competing banks, it is fair to infer they said no.

Page 32 and 33 of the report contains a list of business men in the area, giving their occupation and present banking connection. They were interviewed on February 16, 1962. The report does not state the nature or

purpose of the interview or what they told Mr. Quinn.
(R 32-33)

On January 26, 1962, Mr. Quinn made a survey of the area involved in the application. *The Cottonwood Shopping Center was for the most part still under construction. One establishment was open for business.*
(R 33)

The Center will contain 50 business shops on the ground floor and a medical center for 12 doctors on the second floor. The center will contain 515,000 square feet all under roof. Future plans call for an addition to increase the overall size by one third. (R 33)

The estimated population of the primary area is 43,000. The area to be served is between 3900 and 7800 South Streets east of 900 East to the Wasatch range. It is estimated the population of the area will be 70,000 by 1970. The Cottonwood Shopping Center, when completed, will be by far the largest group of businesses in the area. (R 34)

According to applicant's records Olympus Hills branch (of applicant) which has been operating over a year, has \$742,000 in loans. (R 36) The report states that applicant estimates the annual expense of operation of the branch at \$18,650. *The examiner estimates the proposed branch will be on a profitable basis within a 12 to 18 months period.* Both estimates appear to the Examiner to be reasonable. (R 36) Applicant estimates the cost of leasehold improvements at \$4,000. to \$5,000. and furniture and equipment at \$22,500. (R 36)

The Branch Manager and his assistants will be re-

cruited from the experienced staff at Head office or from the branches of the bank. (R 37)

Under Conclusions and Recommendation of the Examiner it is stated that there are 5 operating branch bank facilities and one that has been approved but not yet established and a savings and loan branch facility. The only protest filed against the establishment of the proposed branch is the protest by Zions Bank.

"However, the officers and Managers of the financial firms that are represented in this area were of the opinion that the area is being well serviced with present facilities and the granting of an additional facility would not be ethical or proper." * *

"The area involved appears to be adequately serviced by banking facilities at the present time. However, the potential growth of the area and particularly the potential business growth of the Cottonwood Mall as presently established, together with its increased facilities planned for the future, could change this picture so that an additional banking facility in this area would be justified."
(R 38)

The plaintiff took the deposition of the defendant Spencer C. Taylor. It was introduced in evidence with certain portions deleted by stipulation.

Mr. Taylor testified that the written documents which he had before him when he issued the certificate were:

- a. The application of First Security State Bank with supporting information and maps.

- b. The protest letters of Zions First National Bank dated Nov. 28, 1961
- c. Copy of Branch Investigation report of C. B. Quinn
- d. Copy of certificate dated October 16, 1962

Mr. Taylor's testimony is paraphrased as follows:

(Dep. 12) There were lots of verbal conferences with the Governor but I think nothing was put in writing.

(Dep. 13) I had occasion to make personal observations regarding this matter. We had conferences with both sides you understand and each time we had a conference, I would make it a point to go out there. I can't remember the dates. Mr. Flint and a representative from Zions First National came up and I also met with the First Security, probably more than once. (Dep. 14)

I went out on occasions because my son was working out there at Bakers shoes. During the period of time he worked there, I believe I went out there quite frequently. It was just a matter of walking around the Mall and watching the progress. (Dep. 19)

I generally talked to the Western Savings & Loan out there—to Scharf Sumner. I saw him at the opening of his new place there. I saw him both at the opening of his temporary quarters and also the permanent quarters and I was also out there at the opening of Zion's permanent quarters. I think we talked about the growth of the Mall out there and what a tremendous thing it was. I talked to him about the competitive situation in terms of banking. I asked Mr. Sumner if he had any objection to the First Security State Bank going into the Mall, and he said that he had none. (Dep. 20)

I made no attempt to recontact any of the individuals listed in Mr. Quinn's report. I did not question that they had made the statements to Mr. Quinn, which he had listed in his report. A lot of them were bankers. I talked to Mr. Sid Horman about the growth of the Mall and congratulated him on a marvelous job. He probably told me a little of the history of the Mall and what they expected to do in the future. (Dep. 22)

On my visits to the Mall I observed particularly the crowds of people who used it. I was out there, I guess before Christmas and we just couldn't find a parking place there as many parking places as they have. I don't believe there was anytime before October 16, 1962 that I couldn't find a parking place. I always noticed a pretty good crowd out there but that is as far as I went. (Dep. 23)

Based on my recollection, I would say that at least half of the 50 predicted business establishments had been opened by October 16, 1962. Those that started subsequent to October 16, were practically ready to open. There were a number that opened shortly after that that were practically all ready to open. It was my observation that the Mall was a tremendous thing. I was impressed with the type of tenants they had out there and the size. (Dep. 25)

The Governor was advised of the Quinn report. I couldn't tell you the date. I understood that representatives of Zions First National Bank or First Security State Bank had conferences with the Governor relative to this matter. I don't know what was before the Governor from the Bank. The Governor and I talked freely about

it back and forth. I think he was concerned about it and I was concerned about it. We just wanted to do the right thing and I am sure he did too. The Governor and I both arrived at the decision on October 16, 1962—to grant the application. (Dep. 27)

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