1963

# Zion's First National Bank v. Spencer C. Taylor et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE ACTION OF THE STATE BANK COMMISSIONER OF UTAH IN GRANTING THE APPLICATION OF FIRST SECURITY STATE BANK FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF A BRANCH WITHIN THE COTTONWOOD MALL, SALT LAKE COUNTY, UTAH, WAS VOID IN THAT THERE WAS UNREASONABLE INTERFERENCE BY REASON OF CLOSE PROXIMITY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The 1953 amendment to the Utah branch banking statute which is applicable *only* to the *unincorporated areas of Salt Lake County*, provides:

*"No branch shall be established at a location outside the corporate limits of a city or town in such close proximity to an established bank or branch as to unreasonably interfere with the business thereof."*

(U.C.A. 1953 7-3-6, as amended. Emphasis added.)

It is submitted that a declaratory judgment should be rendered interpreting this statute, which has never been construed, *to forbid virtually adjacent and contiguous branch banking in Salt Lake County.*

The *sole* statutory standard with reference to the existence of “unreasonable interference” with the business of an “established bank or branch” is “*such close proximity*.” Under our statute, “*close proximity*” is equated with “*interference*”. The statute *forbids* “*unreasonable interference*,” which is to be ascertained *solely* by “*such close proximity*.” Accordingly, the legislature contemplated that there would be situations where a *proposed branch bank location relative to a pre-established bank or branch location would itself be unreasonable*. Since the effect of contemplated locations would obviously vary depending upon distance or “proximity” from the pre-established banks or branches, the statute contemplates a factual determination by the Bank Commissioner as to which locations would be so close as to be unreasonable, *except that some locations would be so close as to be unreasonable as a matter of law*. Such “*bedrock*” locations would be those placed adjacent, contiguous, and virtually “*under the same roof*” with pre-established banks or branches. Such locations go beyond mere “close proximity” and become “*such*” close proximity within the statutory prohibition. Hence, it might be said that adjacent or contiguous branch banks in the unincorporated areas of Salt Lake County constitute unreasonable interference *per se*. If the statute isn’t violated in such situations it could never be violated!

In any event, it is submitted that under the facts of this case there is “unreasonable interference” by reason of “such close proximity” as a matter of law. The

facts herein present a "bedrock" or near ultimate situation in terms of closeness of branch bank locations. Additionally, the record *affirmatively* shows that injection of the new branch bank within the Cottonwood Mall in "such close proximity" would "unreasonably interfere" with the "established" Zions branch bank. (As to this matter, among other things, Chief Bank Examiner Quinn had officially reported the existence of "overbanking" in the area and "no need" for further banking facilities (R. 35). Another branch charter in the same area could only aggravate the situation to the detriment of the pre-established branch bank.)

The arguments herein submitted are made without benefit of precedent. Not only is the statute under consideration uniquely and solely applicable to the *unincorporated* areas of Salt Lake County, but it appears to be a uniquely worded type of branch bank prohibition, no precise statutory or case precedents being existent from other jurisdictions to the writer's knowledge. It will be helpful, therefore, to consider the general historical development of our branch banking statutes in order to ascertain the legislative intent and public policy considerations applicable thereto.

As a preliminary matter, it should be recognized that banking is a necessarily regulated industry, being "affected with the public interest." (7 Am. Jur., Banks and Banking, Section 9 at p. 30; 9 C.J.S., Banks and Banking, Section 42 at p. 80. See also *Italy v. Johnson*, 200 Cal. 1, 251 Pac. 784 (Calif. 1927).) In this connection, this Court has recognized the public's concern in branch bank-



ing and the necessity for restrictions. (*Union Trust Co. v. Simmons*, 116 Utah 422, 211 P.2d 196 (1949)) (Petitioner conceded in this case the right of the legislature to prohibit branch banking in Utah.)

Until 1933 branch banking was absolutely prohibited in Utah, as it still is prohibited in a majority of states. (7 Am. Jur., Banks and Banking, Section 23; 9 C.J.S., Banks and Banking, Section 55) Since 1933, Utah has permitted branch banking in *certain areas and under certain conditions*. Caution in the expansion of branch banking in this state is apparent from analysis of stringent conditions which our legislature has imposed, which conditions fundamentally express the public policies of protection of the general public, as well as protection of the pre-established banks. Recognition of the evils of "overbanking" is apparent by the imposition of the said conditions. In this connection, the requirement of promoting the "public convenience and advantage" (protection of the general public) was enacted in the original statute (Laws of Utah 1933, Chapter 6) and has been carried forth as a condition relative to all areas wherein branch banking is permitted. (U.C.A. 1953 7-3-6, as amended.) Also, the requirement that a branch "take over an existing bank" (protection of pre-established banks) was in the original statute, and is still mandatory in some areas where branching is permitted (U.C.A. 1953 7-3-6, as amended). Accordingly, in 1951 when dealing with a city or town other than a city of the first class, the legislature maintained that absolute prohibition under certain conditions, as to the *entire* city or town.

(Laws of Utah 1951, Chapter 10) That is, instead of the "close proximity" test, the entire *corporate limits* of an organized municipal corporation was used as the boundary. The conditions made applicable were that if an *established bank was operating*, no new branch could be established unless the bank seeking to establish the branch *took over the operating bank*. Then, to further restrict the spread of branch banking, it was provided that a unit bank in such city or town could not be taken over as a branch until it had been in operation as a unit bank for a period of *five years*. This law is still applicable. (U.C.A. 1953 7-3-6, as amended.)

When the legislature, by amendment in 1953, came to deal *for the first time* with the establishment of a branch in an *unincorporated area*, it had to find appropriate language. (Note: the *only* unincorporated area wherein branch banking is permitted at all is Salt Lake County, since Salt Lake is the only county which contains a city of the first class as required by the statute. As to unincorporated areas of other counties, the pre-1933 policy of absolute prohibition still applies.) The legislature could not well say, as it had done with respect to a city or town, that only one branch bank could be established in the entire unincorporated area of a county. It was necessary that it look to the realities and impose such restrictions as were reasonably comparable to those applicable in the case of cities and towns. Hence, "close proximity" was used as the *area concept* instead of the entire town or city, and the formula of "unreasonable interference" with "established bank . . . business" as occasioned by "*such close proximity*" was used to embody

the concept already applicable to incorporated areas, namely, protection of *existing banking institutions* and the *general public* from *overbanking and unwarranted competition* within the *same basic area*.

Based upon the plain wording of the statute, as well as apparent legislative intent from analysis of the branch banking statutes, it is submitted that the "close proximity" statute should be construed as a matter of law to prohibit extremely close, "side by side" type banking locations, and in any event the contemplated location of First Security should be so construed in this case.

## POINT II.

SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS THAT THE DEFENDANT BANK COMMISSIONER ABUSED HIS DISCRETION IN IGNORING THE "CLOSE PROXIMITY" STATUTE AND IN FAILING TO MAKE THE FACTUAL DETERMINATIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THE SAID STATUTE.

The trial court held that the action of the Bank Commissioner in granting a branch bank charter to First Security was null and void in that it was *without foundation in fact*, thus constituting an abuse of administrative discretion. The holding is based upon the finding that the "close proximity" statute was not inquired into, and determinations contemplated thereunder were not made. This assumes, notwithstanding the admitted existence of "such close proximity," that there were still factual determinations to be made by the Bank Commissioner relative to the *effect* of "such close proximity," i.e., whether such would constitute "unreasonable interference" with the business of the "established bank or

branch." This was the theory of the statute adopted by the trial court, which is vigorously defended herein!

The "close proximity" statute constitutes a *limitation* or *restriction* upon the Bank Commissioner in that it sets forth a *mandatory condition* or *standard* that must be followed. The recitation of facts as set forth herein demonstrates that the Bank Commissioner failed to comply with the said *statutory condition precedent*. Actually, the facts show that notwithstanding the existence of "close proximity" in this situation, the Bank Commissioner failed to inquire into the *effect* which the said "close proximity" would have upon the established business of Zions, no investigation having been made in order to ascertain the existence or non-existence of "unreasonable interference."

With regard to the applicable law, it will be well first to comment with reference to the authorities contained in Appellants' Brief. Generally speaking, there is no quarrel with the authorities contained therein. There appears to be an attempt, however, in the use of certain authorities, to suggest a near absolute and unrestricted administrative discretion in banking matters. That is certainly not the law applicable in this jurisdiction *in view of our express statutory conditions and prohibitions*. Hence, the quotation from Professor Davis and the authorities construing the federal banking statute are in no wise appropriate with reference to Utah law. The reason for this is that the federal law contains almost no restrictions as to the actions of the Comptroller of the Currency, in sharp contrast with the Utah statute as to

the actions of the Bank Commissioner. Thus, in *Community National Bank of Pontiac v. Gidney as Comptroller of the Currency*, 192 F. Supp. 514 (E.D. Michigan 1961), it was noted as to *federal banking* that there was a Congressional intent "to place in the hands of the Comptroller almost complete control over many aspects of banking." (192 F. Supp. at 517) In this connection, the court commented upon ". . . the failure of Congress to provide any standards by which this court could determine whether the exercise of discretion by the Comptroller was 'reasonable' or whether it was 'arbitrary' . . ." (192 F. Supp. at 519)

It is submitted that the action of the Bank Commissioner with reference to the matter of granting or denying branch bank charters in unincorporated areas of Salt Lake County (as well as the other areas of the state) is *limited by standards* and must be based upon *substantial competent evidence*. In this connection, the Bank Commissioner's action *could not be based upon nonstatutory tests* or upon *personal "investigations" not factual in nature*. The applicable principles of law are as follows:

1. Limited Discretion of the Bank Commissioner — Conditions Precedent.

While it is proper to speak of an abuse of discretion as the standard in judging the propriety of the decision of the Bank Commissioner, it is not proper to consider that discretion in terms of an *unlimited* discretion. It is submitted that certain *statutory standards* have been given which *must* be followed by the Bank Commissioner and which must guide a re-

viewing court in deciding the question whether or not his decision was, in fact, arbitrary or capricious. This is "horn book" law applicable to administrative decisions in general:

"Since such action is not in accordance with law, is in excess of authority, and *presents a judicial question or a question of law for the court*, a court on review of action of an administrative agency, under express provisions of some statutes but *even in the absence of statutes providing for judicial review or relief* and in the face of statutes purporting to preclude judicial review, this being a matter of constitutional right in some instances, will pass on, and in a proper case grant relief from or set aside, agency action, findings, and conclusions which are *arbitrary, capricious, or both or either, unreasonable, or arbitrary or unreasonable, or an abuse of power or discretion.*"

504, 505. (Emphasis added.)

This Court has often taken note of these principles of administrative law, representative statements of the doctrine appearing in two cases involving review of decisions of the Department of Business Regulation:

"If they should fail to regularly pursue their authority, or refuse to do so, or act in any manner which is arbitrary, capricious or discriminatory as to the applicant, recourse to the courts is available."

*Clayton v. Bennett*, 5 Utah 2d 152, 298 P.2d 531 (1956)

\* \* \*

“Should the department, or its examining committee, fail to so properly discharge its duties or act in any manner that is capricious or arbitrary, the applicant would not be at the mercy of said department of such committee, but recourse to the courts would be available.”

*Alexander v. Bennett*, 5 Utah 2d 163, 298 P.2d 823 (1956)

It is well recognized law that where statutory standards are given, state banking department officials may not exercise an unlimited or absolute discretion. Statutory standards and conditions must be complied with, and such compliance is a *condition precedent* to valid administrative action. The Utah statute provides two fundamental standards, *both of which must be inquired into* by the Bank Commissioner in justification of any purported decision granting an application for branch banking in unincorporated areas of Salt Lake County. The first is the matter of “public convenience and advantage” and the second is the matter of “close proximity” — “unreasonable interference” (U. C.A. 1953 7-3-6, as amended). In other areas of the state, additional or other standards are applicable. Hence it was recognized in the Utah case of *Union Trust Company v. Simmons*, 116 Utah 422, 211 P.2d 196 (1949), that “petitioner has not complied with *any of the requirements* for the establishment of a branch bank under this method.” (The method referred to was the law applicable to Ogden, Utah, wherein it was necessary



to take over an existing unit bank in order to establish a branch therein.)

In *Wall v. Fenner*, 76 So. Dak. 252, 76 N.W. 2d 722 (S. Dak. 1956) mandamus to review denial of application for a bank charter was rejected and the Bank Commission's discretion was upheld. However, the court emphasized the responsibility in terms of *standards of the Commission*:

"When the Commission acts on an application it *must*, in carrying out this legislative mandate, *determine questions of fact*. In making such determination the Commission of necessity exercises a discretion. However, this statute *does not give the Commission an unlimited or absolute discretion*. Its actions must be based on *determinations of facts . . .* It requires the Commission to *inquire into specified factual areas thus limiting the Commission's concern to the areas enumerated*." 76 N.W. 2d at 724. (Emphasis added.)

*Accord*, *Speer v. Dossy*, 177 Ken. 761, 198 S.W. 19, 20 (Ky. 1917) wherein the court pointed out that the banking administrators' ". . . discretion must be exercised only within the limits prescribed by the statute."

The case of *Daughin Deposit Trust Co. v. Myers*, 388 Penn. 444, 130 A. 2d 686 (Penn. 1957) involved a proceeding for approval of articles of merger of two banks, which had been denied by the Department of Banking. The order of the Department of Banking disapproving the said articles of merger was reversed since the Department had based its decision upon a *nonstatutory test*. The statutory standard was



whether the merger was made for a "legitimate purpose," but the Banking Department had disapproved the merger on the ground that there was "no need".

In *Moran v. Nelson*, 322 Mich. 230, 33 N.W. 2d 772 (Mich. 1948), a suit was commenced to vacate and set aside an order by the State Banking Department and for permission to organize a new bank. The court upheld the applicants and directed the Bank Commissioner to grant their petition, holding that the Bank Commissioner had erroneously refused to grant the charter because of a *mistake in the interpretation of the statutory* meaning of the term "necessity." The court said:

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